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The SuperMedia Defendants1 file this Reply Brief in response to Plaintiffs’ Opposition to 

the SuperMedia Defendants’ motion to dismiss, and respectfully show as follows:  

I. SUMMARY OF REPLY ARGUMENT 

Plaintiffs spend the first five pages of their opposition restating the allegations in the 

Amended Complaint.  Most of those allegations relate to alleged wrongful conduct of the 

Verizon defendants in “improperly” transferring the Plaintiffs to the SuperMedia Pension Plans.  

Plaintiffs do not allege the SuperMedia Defendants committed any wrongful conduct in this 

regard.  And Plaintiffs have failed to specifically identify a single plan benefit that they were 

entitled to under law that the SuperMedia Pension Plans denied.  In fact, Plaintiffs’ Amended 

Complaint is completely devoid of any claim against the SuperMedia Pension Plans themselves.  

The only claims Plaintiffs have attempted to assert against any of the SuperMedia Defendants 

relate to SuperMedia EBC’s alleged failure to provide plan documents upon request.  These 

claims fail as a matter of law because Plaintiffs received all of the documents they were entitled 

to under ERISA.  As a result, Plaintiffs’ claims against the SuperMedia Defendants should be 

dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6). 

II. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, a complaint must allege sufficient factual allegations 

to state a claim that is plausible on its face.  See Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009). 

                                                 
1 Defined terms in this Reply will have the same meaning as those defined terms in the original motion to 

dismiss [Docket No. 23]. 
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A. Plaintiffs Have Failed to State Any Claims Against the SuperMedia Pension 
Plans. 

A full examination of Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint reveals they have not alleged the 

SuperMedia Pension Plans are responsible in any way for the alleged statutory violations and 

breaches of fiduciary duties directed against the Verizon Defendants and SuperMedia EBC.   

1. Plaintiffs’ Response Brief fails to identify claims against the SuperMedia 
Pension Plans. 

Plaintiffs’ Opposition to SuperMedia Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss (“Response Brief”) 

makes Defendants’ point as to the SuperMedia Pension Plans.  Despite Plaintiffs’ re-

characterization of each of their six claims, Plaintiffs point to no factual allegations that would 

impose liability against the SuperMedia Pension Plans.  See Pls.’ Resp. Br. at 2-5.  Likewise, no 

claim can be found in Section B where Plaintiffs specifically address the plans.  See id. at 7-9.  

The closest Plaintiffs come is their assertion in the Response Brief that “Plaintiffs seek an order 

directing all defendant parties restore all involuntarily transferred retirees into Verizon’s pension 

plans.”  Id. at 7 (emphasis added).  The support for this statement, Plaintiffs’ citation of the 

Amended Complaint at paragraph 151 and Prayer G.4, does not allege a factual basis to impose 

liability.  See Pls.’ Am. Compl. ¶ 151, Prayer G.4.  Paragraph 151 simply states, “Plaintiffs 

incorporate and reallege by reference the foregoing paragraphs 1 through 150, inclusive, as if 

they were fully set forth herein.”  Id. ¶ 151.  It is followed by paragraphs stating a claim for 

violation of ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B) exclusively against the Verizon Management Pension Plan 

and the Verizon Pension Plan for New York & New England Associates.  See id. ¶ 152.  

Paragraph G.4 of the Prayer, which cannot possibly meet the notice pleading standard on 

its own,2 requests injunctive relief against SuperMedia EBC f/k/a Idearc EBC,3 not the 

                                                 
2 See Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a) (requiring a pleading that states a claim for relief contain a short and plain 

statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief and a demand for the relief sought). 
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SuperMedia Pension Plans.  See id. at Prayer G.4.  While Plaintiffs may be correct that ERISA 

§ 502(d)(1), “does not limit the forms of relief that may be sought against a plan” (Pls.’ Resp. Br. 

at 7), the Amended Complaint still fails to actually state a factual basis for relief from the 

SuperMedia Pension Plans. 

2. Plaintiffs’ attempt to argue the SuperMedia Pension Plans are necessary 
parties is a red herring. 

 Rather than pointing to actual claims asserted against the SuperMedia Pension Plans, the 

thrust of Plaintiffs’ argument is that they are necessary parties to this litigation under Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 19(a).  However, “it is implicit in Rule 19(a) itself that . . . before [a 

party] will be joined as a defendant the plaintiff must have a cause of action against it.”  Vieux 

Carre Prop. Owners, Residents, & Assocs., Inc. v. Brown, 875 F.2d 453, 457 (5th Cir. 1989).  

Plaintiffs’ failure to assert any claims against or to seek any relief from the plans precludes 

retaining the plans as “necessary parties.”  See Coward v. Dickens, No. Civ. A. 04-2124, 2005 

WL 1330491, at *1 (W.D. La. May 13, 2005) (unpublished) (granting defendant’s 12(b)(6) 

motion where plaintiffs argued defendant was necessary party but did not allege any actions 

taken by defendant nor request any relief involving defendant).  In any event, the SuperMedia 

Pension Plans are not necessary for complete relief to be granted, just as the plans’ sponsor, 

SuperMedia Inc., is not necessary for relief.4  As a result, Plaintiffs’ “claims” against the 

SuperMedia Pension Plans should be dismissed with prejudice.  

                                                                                                                                                             
3 Plaintiffs also seek injunctive relief from SuperMedia Inc. f/k/a Idearc Inc.; however, the parties agreed to 

a stipulation voluntarily dismissing SuperMedia Inc., which this Court entered on February 9, 2010.  See Order 
Granting Stipulation of Dismissal of Def. Idearc, Inc. n/k/a SuperMedia, Inc. under Fed. R. of Civ. P. 41(a)(1)(ii) 
(Docket No. 17). 

4 See Order, supra note 3.  To the extent the Court determines a SuperMedia Defendant is needed to 
effectuate an order transferring retirees back to Verizon pension plans, the plans’ administrator is the appropriate 
party—SuperMedia EBC.  If the Court makes such a determination, SuperMedia EBC could remain in the case, 
after dismissing all claims against it, for the sole purpose of facilitating the enforcement of any orders that may be 
made by the court with respect to transferring the retirees. 
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B. Plaintiffs Have Failed to State a Claim Against SuperMedia EBC for 
Violation of ERISA § 104(b)(4). 

Plaintiffs requested twenty categories of documents from SuperMedia EBC in two 

separate letter requests.  See Aug. 13, 2008 Letter, attached hereto as Ex. A; Feb. 4, 2009 Letter, 

attached hereto as Ex. B.5  Plaintiffs contend they were entitled to these documents under ERISA 

§ 104(b)(4).  See Pls.’ Am. Compl. ¶¶ 51-58, 86, 105.  SuperMedia EBC provided all of the 

documents Plaintiffs were entitled to under ERISA.  See Sept. 10, 2008 Letter, attached hereto as 

Ex. C; Mar. 3, 2009 Letter, attached hereto as Ex. D.6  Plaintiffs were apparently satisfied with 

SuperMedia’s response to sixteen of the twenty categories, as they now allege SuperMedia EBC 

failed to provide documents responsive to only four of these categories: 

1) Form 5500s; 
2) Funding and actuarial reports; 
3) IRS approvals and qualifications; 
4) Investment policies/guidelines. 
 

See Pls.’ Resp. Br. at 10-18.  Because documents responsive to these four categories were either 

provided or are not required to be disclosed, Plaintiffs have failed to state an actionable claim for 

violation of the statute.  The Court should therefore dismiss Count Two as to SuperMedia EBC.  

See Shaver v. Operating Eng’rs Local 428 Pension Trust Fund, 332 F.3d 1198, 1202 (9th Cir. 

                                                 
5 The Fifth Circuit recognizes the incorporation-by-reference doctrine.  See Collins v. Morgan Stanley Dean 

Witter, 224 F.3d 496, 498-99 (5th Cir. 2000) (“Documents that a defendant attaches to a motion to dismiss are 
considered part of the pleadings if they are referred to in the plaintiff’s complaint and are central to her claim.”)  
Plaintiffs quote heavily from the August 13, 2008 and February 4, 2009 letters as the bases for their claims, but fail 
to attach either to their Amended Complaint.  See Pls.’ Am. Compl. ¶¶ 51-57, 59, 61, 64-66, 86, 103, 111-12.  The 
SuperMedia Defendants attach both hereto for completeness without converting their motion to dismiss to one for 
summary judgment.  See generally Collins, 224 F.3d at 498-99. 

6 SuperMedia EBC’s responses to Plaintiffs’ letters should be considered part of the pleadings because they 
are implicitly referred to in Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint and are central to their claims.  See Collins, 224 F.3d at 
498-99.  Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that SuperMedia EBC failed to provide some, not all, of the requested 
information.  See Pls.’ Am. Compl. ¶¶ 51, 86.  SuperMedia EBC’s response letters show exactly what was provided 
and what was not provided.  The SuperMedia Defendants attach both hereto for completeness without converting 
their motion to dismiss to one for summary judgment.  See generally Collins, 224 F.3d at 498-99.  The authenticity 
of the letters is not in question.  See Exhibit E, Declaration of Joe A. Garza, authenticating the letters in question.  
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2003) (holding dismissal of claim appropriate under Rule 12(b)(6) when documents requested 

did not fall within ERISA § 104(b)(4)).   

1. SuperMedia EBC provided Plaintiffs with the latest Form 5500s.  

In a letter dated August 13, 2008, Plaintiffs Sandra Noe and Claire Palmer requested from 

SuperMedia EBC 2006 and 2007 Form 5500s.  See Pls.’ Am. Compl. ¶ 51; Ex. A at 1-2.  Form 

5500s are also known as annual reports.  See Faircloth v. Lundy Packing Co., 91 F.3d 648, 651 

(4th Cir. 1996) (using annual report and Form 5500 interchangeably).  ERISA § 104(b)(4) 

requires the plan administrator to provide the latest annual report upon written request.  See 

ERISA § 104(b)(4).  SuperMedia EBC complied with its obligations under the statute by 

providing the latest annual report, which was Year 2006.  See Ex. C.  The Amended Complaint 

demonstrates no plausible claim on its face with respect to this category of documents.   

2. ERISA § 104(b)(4) does not require the disclosure of funding and 
actuarial reports.  

In their February 4, 2009 letter, Plaintiffs requested “actuarial studies, funding 

projections, estimates and final reports concerning pension assets expected to be transferred and 

confirming the transfer of assets to [SuperMedia] for payment of pension liabilities.”  See Pls.’ 

Am. Compl. ¶ 54; Ex. B.  None of these items are enumerated in ERISA § 104(b)(4).   

The Fifth Circuit employs the principle of ejusdem generis in construing statutory 

requirements.  See, e.g., Weisbart & Co. v. First Nat’l Bank of Dalhart, Tex., 568 F.2d 391, 395 

& n.6 (5th Cir. 1978) (applying statutory construction cannon of ejusdem generis to narrowly 

interpret the UCC).  “This doctrine counsels that general words following an enumeration of 

particular or specific items should be construed to fall into the same class as those items 

specifically named.”  Id. at n.6.  In applying this principle to the statutory provision at issue, 

other circuits have limited the “other instruments” provision to the specific class of documents 
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immediately preceeding it.  See Allinder v. Inter-City Prods. Corp., 152 F.3d 644, 549 (6th Cir. 

1998) (applying the construction principle of ejusdem generis to the term “other documents” to 

exclude claims forms).  “[A]ctuarial studies, funding projections, estimates and final reports 

concerning pension assets” are not within the class of documents specifically enumerated in 

ERISA § 104(b)(4) and no authorities interpret the statute to require their production.       

The closest authority Plaintiffs cite is a 1994 Sixth Circuit opinion holding actuarial 

valuation reports must be disclosed upon request under ERISA § 104(b)(4).  See Bartling v. 

Fruehauf Corp., 29 F.3d 1062, 1070 (6th Cir. 1994) (reasoning because 29 U.S.C. § 1023(d) 

required an actuarial valuation report for every third plan year, they were indispensable to the 

operation of the plan).7  “An actuarial valuation report is a document, prepared by the plans’ 

actuaries, that describes a plan’s ‘current funded status and future funding obligations.’”  Board 

of Trs. of the CWA/ITU Negotiated Pension Plan v. Weinstein, 107 F.3d 139, 144 (2d Cir. 1997).  

Plaintiffs did not request an actuarial valuation report.  Instead Plaintiffs requested “actuarial 

studies” and “final reports concerning pension assets expected to be transferred and confirming 

the transfer of assets to [SuperMedia] for payment of pension liabilities,” which do not fall 

within the scope of the “other instruments” provision.  Pls.’ Am. Compl. ¶ 54; Ex. B at 3; Aliff v. 

BP Am., Inc., 826 F. Supp. 178, 182, 188 (S.D. W. Va. 1993) (holding ERISA § 104(b)(4) did 

not require plan administrator to supply a copy of an actuarial report comparing particular benefit 

plans prepared at the administrator’s request).  

Even if the Court interpreted Plaintiffs’ request to include 29 U.S.C. § 1023(d) actuarial 

valuation reports, the Second Circuit, in an extremely thorough and well-reasoned opinion, 

                                                 
7 Upon further analysis, courts call into question the Bartling court’s reasoning.  See the Board of Trustees 

of the CWA/ITU Negotiated Pension Plan v. Weinstein discussion infra.  See also Faircloth v. Lundy Packing Co., 
91 F.3d 648, 654 (4th Cir. 1996) (“We find nothing in the clear and unambiguous statutory language to support [the 
Bartling court’s presumption” favoring disclosure). 
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analyzed the Bartling court’s reasoning and held ERISA § 104(b)(4) did not require the 

disclosure of these reports.  Weinstein, 107 F.3d at 146.  Over several pages of detailed analysis, 

the Weinstein court lays out why actuarial valuation reports do not fall within the scope of the 

“other instruments” provision.  In short, “[s]ince actuarial valuation reports are not mentioned in 

§ 104(b)(4), are not required to be reproduced within any of the documents that that section does 

mention, are not sources of data that plan administrators are required to use, and are not sources 

of the rights or obligations of any of the participants, beneficiaries, or fiduciaries,. . . actuarial 

valuation reports are not within the scope of § 104(b)(4).”  Id. at 145. 

Plaintiffs have failed to state a plausible claim for relief with respect to SuperMedia’s 

failure to provide actuarial studies, funding projections, estimates and final reports concerning 

pension assets expected to be transferred and confirming the transfer of assets to SuperMedia. 

3. ERISA § 104(b)(4) does not require the disclosure of IRS approvals and 
qualifications. 

In their February 4, 2009 letter, Plaintiffs also requested “documents reflecting 

application made to the IRS for approval of the transfer or retirees and pension assets and 

qualification of the pension plans, as well as letters and responses by the IRS.”  See Pls.’ Am. 

Compl. ¶ 56; Ex. B at 8.  Any application to the IRS for a particular tax status and determination 

letter therefrom are not the formal instruments establishing or operating a plan contemplated by 

ERISA § 104(b)(4)’s “other instrument” provision.  Faircloth, 91 F.3d at 654 (holding IRS 

determination letter is not within scope of ERISA § 104(b)(4)).  In stating “there are no 

published court cases directly on point,” Plaintiffs ignore the Faircloth decision, upon which 

they rely heavily for other arguments in their Response Brief.  Pls.’ Resp. Br. at 14, 16-17.  

Plaintiffs have failed to state a plausible claim for relief with respect to this category of 

documents.  
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4. ERISA § 104(b)(4) does not require the disclosure of investment 
policies/guidelines. 

Finally, Plaintiffs requested “all other documents created since September 2008 under 

which the pension plans and the master trust are established and operated within the meaning of 

ERISA Section 104(b)(4), including asset allocation policy/guidelines and investment 

policy/guidelines and proxy voting guidelines.”  See Pls.’ Compl. ¶ 86; Ex. B at 9.  Plaintiffs fail 

to cite any controlling authority that these documents should be considered within the “other 

instruments” listed in ERISA § 104(b)(4).   

Instead, Plaintiffs rely on Faircloth, in which the Fourth Circuit reversed the district 

court’s holding that participants were not entitled to the requested employee stock ownership 

plan’s funding and investment policies, but affirmed the district court in all other respects, 

including that IRS determinations of tax qualification, bonding policies, appraisal reports and 

supporting documentation, meeting minutes, cost-sharing policies, and trustee expense policies 

did not fall within the narrow scope of ERISA § 104(b)(4).  Id. at 652-58.  Plaintiffs have failed 

to demonstrate that the Fifth Circuit would agree with this fourteen year old holding with regard 

to investment policies and guidelines.   

Considering the same issue, and with the benefit of eight years of case law development 

since Faircloth, the Northern District of Ohio in the Hickey v. Pennywitt case properly excluded 

from ERISA § 104(b)(4): (1) investment guidelines, (2) classes of assets that comprise the 

investment portfolio and target percentages, (3) insurance coverage, (4) the risk/return 

characteristics of the fund, and (5) the name of the investment manager.  Hickey v. Pennywitt, 

No. 3:03CV7307, 2004 WL 1304933, at * 7 (N.D. Ohio, May 20, 2004) (unpublished).  Relying 

on many of the cases cited herein, including Faircloth, the Hickey court held ERISA § 104(b)(4) 

did not require the defendants to provide plaintiffs with requested investment guidelines.  Id. at 

Case 3:09-cv-02262-G     Document 29      Filed 04/13/2010     Page 9 of 12



9 

AUS:626597.7 

*6-7.  The Hickey court’s treatment of investment policies and similar documents is more in line 

with other circuits and a narrow construction of ERISA § 104(b)(4).  See, e.g., Weinstein, 107 

F.3d at 143 (reasoning the “other documents” clause “was meant to refer to formal documents 

that govern the plan, not all documents by means of which the plan conducts operations”).  Asset 

allocation and investment policies do not fall within the scope of ERISA § 104(b)(4).  

In sum, SuperMedia EBC provided the latest annual report and ERISA § 104(b)(4) does 

not require SuperMedia EBC to provide the other three categories of documents Plaintiffs claim 

were withheld; therefore, Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim against SuperMedia EBC in 

Count Two.  Accordingly, the claim should be dismissed.  See Shaver, 332 F.3d at 1202 

(affirming district court’s dismissal of claims on 12(b)(6) motion). 

C. Plaintiffs Have Failed to State a Claim Against SuperMedia EBC for Breach 
of Fiduciary Duty. 

Because Plaintiffs failed to state a claim for failure to provide documents under ERISA 

§ 104(b)(4), Plaintiffs’ claim for breach of fiduciary duty fails as well.  Plaintiffs argue in their 

Response Brief “that they can demonstrate circumstances which justify expansion of the pension 

plan administrators’ respective duties to make required disclosures to Plaintiff beyond the 

matters specifically listed in ERISA Section 104(b)(4).”  Pls.’ Resp. Br. at 18-19.  A plan 

administrator’s duty to produce documents, however, is defined by ERISA.  See ERISA 

§ 104(b)(4); Faircloth, 91 F.3d at 657 (holding ERISA’s general fiduciary duty provision does 

not create additional disclosure obligations beyond those found in ERISA § 104(b)(4)).  

Expanding the scope of this duty would eviscerate the plain language of the statute, conflict with 

the principle that specific statutes govern general statutes, and upset the delicate balance crafted 

by Congress in providing participants with information about their rights and remedies with 
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respect to employee benefit plans and the burden and expense placed on plan administrators in 

having to provide unlimited information to curious participants.  See id. at 657-58.   

Because SuperMedia EBC did not violate ERISA § 104(b)(4), Plaintiffs have failed to 

state a breach of fiduciary duty claim that is plausible on its face.  Shaver, 332 F.3d at 1202 

(affirming district court’s dismissal under 12(b)(6) of breach of fiduciary duty claim based on 

withheld documents where court determined ERISA § 104(b)(4) did not compel same documents 

to be provided).  Count One should, therefore, be dismissed as to SuperMedia EBC as well. 

D. Plaintiffs Have Failed to State a Claim Against SuperMedia EBC for 
Equitable Relief Under ERISA §§ 502(a)(2) and (a)(3). 

Section E of Plaintiffs’ Response Brief reiterates the SuperMedia Defendants’ point that 

the injunctive relief sought in Count Four is properly asserted against the Verizon Defendants 

and not SuperMedia EBC.  That SuperMedia EBC may “fully recognize[] that plaintiffs seek to 

rescind their involuntary transfers,” does not mean it can be held liable for this alleged 

wrongdoing.  Pls.’ Resp. Br. at 22.  Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint does not contain sufficient 

factual allegations against SuperMedia EBC to support injunctive relief for any violation of the 

plans or any other ERISA provision.  Likewise, SuperMedia EBC is not a “necessary party” 

under Rule 19(a) for the reasons outlined in Part II.A.2, supra.  Count Four should be dismissed 

with prejudice as to SuperMedia EBC.    

III. CONCLUSION AND PRAYER   

For the reasons outlined above, Plaintiffs have failed to state any plausible claims for 

relief against the SuperMedia Defendants.  Therefore, the SuperMedia Defendants respectfully 

request all claims against them be dismissed with prejudice. 
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